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USAGE NOTES

Place Names

The names of the places where Janina lived in Eastern Galicia (today’s Western Ukraine) changed in the course of the twentieth century, sometimes more than once. Just between 1939 and 1941, the name of today’s Lviv changed from Lwów to Lvov to Lemberg. This book uses the place names that Janina knew and used. For places that have different names today, the current name is provided in parentheses the first time the place is mentioned.

Usage of “Poles”

Prewar Poland was a multiethnic state. The majority consisted of ethnic Poles who were Polish-speaking, predominantly Roman Catholic, and did not belong to another ethnic group. Like Janina, many members of Poland’s ethnic minorities considered themselves loyal Poles, and during World War II many would risk and even sacrifice their lives for their nation. Polish citizens generally identified themselves and one another by their ethnicity. In this book, when the term “Pole” is not modified, it refers to a person of Polish ethnicity.
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PROLOGUE

August 9, 1943

Lublin, Poland

Once again, the commandant of Majdanek concentration camp found Countess Suchodolska in his office, making yet another absurd demand.

SS-Obersturmbannführer Hermann Florstedt had served at several concentration camps in Germany, but Majdanek, he had found, bore little resemblance to them. Located in Lublin in German-occupied Poland, the camp was primitive and chaotic compared to the concentration camps in the Reich. Florstedt’s assignment as the camp’s commandant in 1942 had been a promotion, but also punishment for suspected corruption at Buchenwald. He had arrived at Majdanek to find a massive construction site with unpaved roads, no running water, contaminated wells, and open latrines that gave off an overpowering stench. Towering billows of smoke regularly belched from the camp’s crematorium chimney, raining down the ashes of men, women, and children murdered in the gas chambers. Currently 23,000 prisoners were languishing in unimaginable filth. Infectious diseases were so rampant that even the SS guards sickened and died.

Majdanek did have one compensation in Florstedt’s view: it was the repository of the personal belongings of many of the hundreds of thousands of Jews being murdered by the SS in German-occupied central Poland. SS warehouses in Lublin held mountains of clothes, shoes, furs, and leather goods, and boxes full of currency, jewelry, watches, wedding bands, and gold teeth. It was Florstedt’s responsibility to ensure that Majdanek prisoners processed these goods so that the SS could fully profit from them. But who would notice if Florstedt and his most trusted men took some of the riches as recompense for their service in plundering and murdering Germany’s racial enemies?

One of the vexations of Florstedt’s work, however, was the meddling of Polish aid organizations that sought to provide food and medicines for Majdanek’s Polish prisoners. The Polish Main Welfare Council and the Polish Red Cross were far more assertive than any similar organizations in the Reich. They had actually obtained permission to make weekly deliveries of bread and food products for the prisoners’ kitchens, to supply the prisoners with packages of food and necessities, and to provide medicines for the camp infirmaries. And yet Countess Janina Suchodolska of the Polish Main Welfare Council continually pressed for more: to make more frequent deliveries of more food and more medicines. She even proposed delivering prepared soup for the prisoners. Such things would be out of the question in any other concentration camp. But when told no, the Countess simply made the rounds of higher SS and Nazi authorities until she finally persuaded one that her requests were somehow in German interests.

To make matters worse, the Countess used her visits to Majdanek to spy on the conditions there. Efforts to deter her had proved fruitless. The petite brunette aristocrat remained utterly unflappable in the face of shouts and threats from the SS. Recently, she had even alerted health officials to a typhus epidemic among the prisoners, forcing Florstedt to arrange some semblance of treatment for them.

Now she was pestering Florstedt about the thousands of Polish peasants in the camp. The SS had dumped them there in July after evicting them from their farms to make room for German settlers. Since the SS quickly culled the able-bodied adults for forced labor in the Reich, the peasants still in the camp were mostly children or elderly. After just a few weeks in the camp, these prisoners were already dying of dehydration, starvation, and diseases at a rate that was extreme even for Majdanek. Somehow, the Countess had persuaded German authorities to release the 3,600 Polish peasants still on Majdanek’s rolls, but only on condition that her organization provided all the necessary paperwork and found places for them to live. In just a couple of days, Countess Suchodolska and her coworkers managed to do both.

The Countess had arrived at the camp gate in the morning to receive the civilians. There she was informed, with no further explanation, that nearly half of them were no longer “available” for release. The remaining civilians had been assembled in the third of Majdanek’s five prisoner compounds, about a kilometer from the gate where the Countess awaited them. The distance had proved too far for many to walk: the Countess had watched with increasing alarm as prisoners, trying in vain to hold each other up, stumbled, fell, and lay helpless in the dust. And so here she was in Florstedt’s office, insisting that he allow trucks and ambulances to enter the camp and pick up the prisoners. Allowing Polish civilian transport inside a concentration camp was in complete violation of SS security regulations! But Florstedt knew there was no point in refusing—the Countess would just go over his head.

Within two hours, trucks, buses, and ambulances arrived, recruited by the Countess from businesses and organizations throughout the city.



In the end, 2,106 peasants were released from Majdanek in August 1943. More than 25 percent of them wound up in Lublin’s two main hospitals, and nearly 200 died within days, over half of them children under age twelve. But some 1,900 survived, thanks to the efforts of Countess Suchodolska and her many colleagues.

Her efforts to help the prisoners of Majdanek did not end there. The Countess relentlessly pressed Nazi authorities for more concessions, and gradually they agreed to permit increased deliveries of food, medicines, and supplies. They even allowed her to bring in decorated Christmas trees so that the prisoners could celebrate the holiday. By February 1944, the Polish Main Welfare Council was supplying soup and bread five times a week for 4,000 Polish prisoners in Majdanek, in addition to other deliveries of food and medicine. The Countess herself usually brought the soup into the camp, under the close supervision of SS guards.

Throughout all her dealings with Nazi and SS officials, no one ever suspected that the indomitable Countess, so self-assured and aristocratic in her demeanor, was not a countess at all, nor was her name really Suchodolska. She was Janina Spinner Mehlberg, a brilliant mathematician, an officer in the underground Polish Home Army, and a Jew.






INTRODUCTION

In December 1989, historian Elizabeth “Barry” White received an unexpected package from a stranger. It contained a carbon copy on onionskin paper of an untitled, typewritten manuscript. The donor of the package, American History professor Arthur Funk of the University of Florida, explained that the manuscript was the memoir of Janina Mehlberg, a Polish Jew who survived the Holocaust by posing as the gentile Countess Janina Suchodolska in the city of Lublin. The memoir recounted how she had persuaded the SS to allow her to deliver food for thousands of prisoners in Majdanek (My-DAH-neck) concentration camp and how she used those deliveries to smuggle messages and supplies to resistance fighters imprisoned there.

Funk told Barry that, after the war, Janina (Yah-NEE-nah) Mehlberg immigrated to the United States. She died in 1969 in Chicago, where she was a professor of mathematics at Illinois Institute of Technology. After her death, her husband, the philosopher Henry Mehlberg, tried unsuccessfully to get her memoir published. Shortly before his death in 1979, he entrusted the memoir to Funk in the hope that the historian could publish it. Funk tried, but had been unable to interest any publisher in the memoir. He gave the manuscript copy to Barry because she had just delivered a paper on Maj-danek at the American Historical Association convention, and so he hoped that she would find a way to make Janina Mehlberg’s story known.

There was a Countess Janina Suchodolska in German-occupied Lublin during World War II, Barry knew. Postwar studies of the camp note that, as an official of the Polish Main Welfare Council, a relief organization, she personally made regular deliveries of food for prisoners at Majdanek and, as a member of the underground Polish Home Army, had worked to organize the resistance within the camp through smuggled correspondence. Many accounts of Majdanek by former prisoners mention the Countess, the brave and kind “lady with the sad smile” who brought them food, news of the war, decorated Christmas trees and Easter eggs, and Holy Communion wafers. Prisoners recalled how she never flinched when the SS screamed threats in her face, and they marveled at her success in winning astonishing concessions from Nazi officials, which they attributed to her knowledge of the German mentality. Some former prisoners credited her with providing not only the physical sustenance but also the hope that enabled them to survive. None of the studies or accounts, however, mentions that the Countess was using an alias, much less that she was a Jew.

Knowing the special circle of hell that was Majdanek, Barry read the manuscript with increasing astonishment—and skepticism. Lublin was the headquarters of the largest mass murder operation of the Holocaust, Aktion Reinhard. In connection with the operation, at least 63,000 Jews were murdered in Majdanek’s gas chambers and shooting pits.1 Thousands of non-Jewish Poles were imprisoned and died there as well. Yet, according to the memoir, a petite Jewish woman negotiated with top Nazi officials in Lu-blin, met frequently with SS officials at Majdanek, befriended Majdanek’s SS guards, and regularly visited the camp’s prisoner compounds. She continually and successfully pressed German authorities to permit her organization to provide ever greater quantities and types of relief for Majdanek’s prisoners. It seemed from her account that she never accepted “no” as a final answer and always considered “yes” an invitation to ask for more. Even more incredibly, she used the deliveries as cover to smuggle correspondence and supplies to her fellow resistance members imprisoned in the camp, including tools to aid them in escaping. In addition to her work at Majdanek, she rescued Poles seized for forced labor in Germany and children taken from their families. The Gestapo threatened her, surveilled her, and sent spies to entrap her; on more than one occasion, she narrowly escaped arrest, torture, and death.

The gripping story told in the memoir seemed to Barry almost too fantastic to be true. On the other hand, the author had unusually detailed knowledge about Majdanek, its staff, and its prisoners that someone not personally involved with the camp was unlikely to possess. If the memoir was true, then it revealed a historically significant story that deserved to be made known. But if the memoir was true, why did Janina Mehlberg not come forward after the war to reveal her identity and take credit for her accomplishments? She only wrote the memoir in the 1960s, long after she had left Poland and become well established in the United States. If the memoir was untrue, why would Janina and Henry Mehlberg go to such lengths to perpetrate a hoax? Barry decided that she could not make any use of the memoir without first corroborating that Janina Mehlberg was Countess Suchodolska.

At that time, however, Barry had no way to verify the memoir. In 1989, the Internet was not yet generally available. Researching Janina Mehlberg’s life then required poring over dusty files and peering at microfilm in Polish archives. Barry was then a new mother and working for the U.S. Department of Justice on investigations and prosecutions of Nazi criminals in the United States. She lacked the time and resources to conduct research in Poland, particularly as she did not know Polish. Since Funk also planned to give copies of the memoir to several archives, including the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum (USHMM), Barry hoped that some more qualified scholar would do the work necessary to verify the memoir and bring its story to light.

Years passed, then decades, with no indication that any scholar had examined the memoir. Funk died in 2007. The thought that she might be the only historian who knew about the memoir haunted Barry. What if its claims were true? Did she have a responsibility to ensure that they were verified and made known?

In 2017, working as a historian at the USHMM, Barry embarked on an effort to verify Mehlberg’s claims and discovered a 1975 book review by a former Polish resistance member named in her memoir. Praising the contributions to the resistance at Majdanek of “Janina Suchodolska-Mehlberg,” he mentioned that her memoir had yet to find a publisher.2 While this discovery persuaded Barry that Janina Mehlberg likely was Countess Suchodolska, she concluded that further proof of the memoir’s claims was needed in order to publish it. Determined to recruit a historian with the necessary qualifications to corroborate the memoir and tell Janina Mehlberg’s story, she sent the manuscript to Joanna Sliwa, who is an expert on the Holocaust in Poland. After reading the memoir, Joanna offered to partner with Barry to research Janina Mehlberg’s life and tell her story to the world.

Through records, interviews, photographs, and contacts in nine countries on three continents, we have not only succeeded in verifying the details of her memoir but also have uncovered far more about Janina Mehlberg’s remarkable accomplishments as Countess Suchodolska than the memoir recounts. The incident in the prologue to this book, for example, is not mentioned in the memoir but is based on the wartime documents of the Polish Main Welfare Council. The SS official she persuaded to order the release of the civilians in Majdanek was the manager of Aktion Reinhard, a man with the blood of more than 1.5 million Jews on his hands. In addition to her relief work at Majdanek, she provided food, shelter, and medical care for tens of thousands of Polish civilians evicted from their homes or abducted from their villages, establishing soup kitchens, hospitals, rest and aid stations, and orphanages for children separated from their families. She negotiated the release of thousands of Poles from transit and labor camps as well as from Majdanek.

We also discovered that, in the course of her life, Janina Mehlberg underwent several reinventions, altering her name and occupation—and becoming increasingly younger. As Pepi Spinner, born 1905, she obtained a doctorate in philosophy and logic at age twenty-two from the prestigious Jan Kazimierz University in Lwów, Poland. As Józefa Mehlberg, she worked as a math teacher and lecturer in Lwów from 1935 until 1941, when she and Henry fled to Lublin and obtained false identities. As Countess Janina Suchodolska, she became the secretary and eventually the deputy of the top official in Lublin District of the Polish Main Welfare Council. At the same time, as “Stefania,” she served in the anticommunist Polish Home Army, the largest armed resistance group in German-occupied Poland. When Soviet forces drove the Germans out of Lublin in 1944 and installed a communist government, she became Dr. Janina Suchodolska, social worker, born in 1909. She served in postwar Poland as the deputy director of a welfare agency, tending to the neediest in her war-ravaged country. In 1950, she defected in West Berlin and immigrated to Canada as Josephine Janina Spinner Bednarski Mehlberg. Finally, in 1961, she became a U.S. citizen as Dr. Josephine Janina Spinner Mehlberg, born in 1915.

Although “Janina” was not her name until 1941, Janina Mehlberg retained it as part of her name for the rest of her life, and it is the name she used in her memoir. In a preface to the memoir that her husband, Henry, wrote after her death, he identified her as Janina Spinner Mehlberg. For these reasons, we decided to refer to her as Janina throughout this book.

When we set out to verify Janina’s memoir, we planned that, if we succeeded, we would try to publish it along with text that would explain its historical references and the context of the events it recounts. This approach would preserve Janina’s voice and perspective while helping readers to understand her story. The memoir starts at the beginning of World War II and ends in 1944, when Soviet forces captured and occupied Lublin. It is not a strictly chronological account, however, but a series of vignettes reflecting some aspects of her activities and experiences. It is written with the assumption that readers will be familiar with the people, places, and events to which it refers. On its own, the memoir cannot convey to most of today’s readers a full appreciation of how remarkable Janina’s story is. For example, today few people outside Poland have heard of Majdanek concentration camp. Yet in 1944, it became internationally notorious when its liberation by the Red Army provided the first physical evidence that the Nazi regime systematically gassed Jews. The camp was even featured in a film shown at the postwar trial of the major German war criminals in Nuremberg. Before the name Auschwitz became a synonym for the Holocaust, Majdanek was the international symbol of Nazi criminality.

After finding so much more about Janina’s life and remarkable accomplishments than the memoir reveals, we decided to write a biography of Janina instead. By drawing heavily from Janina’s memoir, we tell her story largely from her perspective, incorporating her thoughts and observations as she recounted them. The dialogue in this book is either drawn directly from the memoir or is based on conversations that the memoir describes. In the epilogue, we discuss how we corroborated Janina’s memoir, her motives for writing it, and what it reveals about her character and the lessons she drew from her experiences. We end with Janina’s voice by quoting the final passages of her memoir.

This book recounts the story of Janina’s life within the context of the events that shaped her actions, integrating her experiences into the larger story of the terror and suffering that the Germans visited upon Poles both Jewish and non-Jewish during World War II. German-occupied Poland was ground zero of the Nazi “final solution” policy, the place where the majority of the Germans’ Jewish victims died in ghettos, camps, killing centers, and shooting pits. Janina became Countess Suchodolska in order to escape their fate. Yet even as a supposedly “Aryan” Pole, Janina remained under threat from German policies of racist persecution and mass murder. Nazi ideology portrayed the Jews as the most dangerous of the Germans’ “subhuman” enemies, but ethnic Poles ranked only slightly higher on the Nazi racist scale of human worth. Poland’s German occupiers unleashed a campaign of systematic carnage that in less than six years claimed the lives of three million Jewish Poles and nearly two million non-Jewish Poles. The Germans also seized more than two million non-Jewish Poles to perform forced labor in the Reich, separating them from their families, and abducted tens of thousands of Polish children to transform them into Germans. The Polish Jewish jurist Raphael Lemkin3 coined the word “genocide” in 1944 to describe the Germans’ efforts to exterminate both Jewish and non-Jewish Poles.

Janina’s story illustrates how Poles sought to resist the German occupation and to help one another survive. She was rescued by a non-Jewish family friend, Count Andrzej Skrzyński, who brought Janina and Henry to Lublin and provided them with identity papers as Count and Countess Suchodolski (Suchodolski is the form used for a man and, in English, for a couple). Jews living on false papers during the Holocaust in Poland tended to lie low and avoid going out in public as much as possible, lest they be recognized by a former acquaintance, betrayed by the trace of a Yiddish accent, or forced to show papers that would not stand up to scrutiny. But Janina could not bear to remain passive as so many of her compatriots suffered and died around her. With Skrzyński’s backing, she enlisted in the Polish Home Army, the armed forces of the Polish Underground State. Of all the countries occupied by Nazi Germany, Poland had by far the most extensive underground resistance organization, and women played vital roles in it. In addition to serving as a courier and a spy, Janina helped to organize and worked with networks of mostly women who smuggled messages and supplies to imprisoned members of the resistance.

For decades after World War II, there was almost no scholarly or public interest in the experiences of Jewish women during the Holocaust or in the women who fought Nazi Germany through resistance and intelligence work. Funk told Barry that, in his effort to get Janina’s memoir published, he sent it to an eminent Holocaust historian in the United States. While the historian found the memoir’s story interesting, he concluded that the experiences of one woman Holocaust survivor did not make a compelling case for publication. At that time, the field of Holocaust studies was in its infancy, and historians were mostly focused on the actions and motivations of the perpetrators. That focus has since broadened, and Jewish women’s responses to the Nazi genocide have become an important area of study. This century has also seen burgeoning public interest in stories about women who fought Nazi Germany and sought to rescue its victims. In telling Janina’s story, we recount the feats of some of the other Polish heroines who risked their lives for their country and whose activities intersected with Janina’s.

It was also through Count Skrzyński that Janina obtained a position with the Polish Main Welfare Council, known by its Polish initials, RGO. The Germans did not permit the RGO to tend to all Polish citizens, only to those whom the Germans considered racially Polish. In the district of Lublin, the RGO cared for hundreds of thousands of Poles expelled from their homes and communities, robbed of their property and livelihoods, subsisting on starvation rations, or consigned to prisons or concentration camps. It was able to provide so many with shelter, food, medicines, and clothing largely thanks to the generosity of the people of Lublin, most of whom were themselves suffering from privation and malnutrition as the intended consequence of German policies. Their contributions also made it possible for Janina to feed thousands of prisoners at Majdanek by delivering tons of bread and hundreds of gallons of soup on a nearly daily basis. At no other concentration camp did such a program exist.

World War II and the Holocaust have given rise to numerous inspiring stories about daring and selfless heroes who fought Nazism and rescued its victims. Some of the best known stories occurred in Poland. German industrialist Oskar Schindler has been deservedly celebrated in the book by Thomas Keneally and in Steven Spielberg’s film Schindler’s List for risking his life and exhausting his fortune to save the lives of some 1,200 of his Jewish workers. Warsaw zookeepers Jan and Antonina Żabiński, who hid nearly three hundred Jews and Polish resistance fighters on zoo grounds, are the heroes of the book by Diane Ackerman and film directed by Niki Caro The Zookeeper’s Wife. There are even more books and dramatic treatments of the life of Irena Sendler, a Polish social worker who smuggled hundreds of Jewish children out of the Warsaw Ghetto and placed them in private homes and religious institutions. Books and films have recounted the astounding courage and feats of resistance of such Polish Jews as the Bielski brothers of the book by Nechama Tec and film directed by Edward Zwick Defiance and, more recently, the “ghetto girls” of Judy Batalion’s The Light of Days.

Janina’s story is unique. She was a Jew who rescued non-Jews in the midst of the largest murder operation of the Holocaust. She witnessed the beginning of Aktion Reinhard with the bloody deportation to the Bełżec killing center of nearly 30,000 Lublin Jews, and she was one of the first Poles to learn of its apocalyptic end with the mass shooting at Majdanek and two other camps of 42,000 Jews. As often as five days a week, she descended into the den of death at Majdanek, knowing that she would be gruesomely tortured and murdered if the SS discovered either her smuggling activities or her true identity. Over and over, she met with mass murderers to persuade them to help her rescue their victims, and she did so with astounding success: based on wartime records, we have documented that she negotiated the release from German captivity of at least 9,707 Poles, 4,431 of them from Majdanek. The deliveries of food and medicines that she organized likely saved thousands more prisoners from dying of starvation or disease. It is impossible to determine how many Polish lives would have been lost but for Janina’s efforts, but the number surely has five figures.

Janina’s memoir is both an account of her life during World War II and a meditation on human nature that seeks to draw some meaning from what she observed and experienced. She witnessed both the worst and the best of human capabilities. She saw that people who engaged in murderous cruelty could still commit acts of surprising kindness and even self-sacrifice, and that people who routinely risked their lives to save others could be self-serving or hateful. She recognized that some of her compatriots—including possibly some of those who worked with her, were aided by her, and lit candles and said prayers for her safety—would have denied her identity as a Pole if they had known she was also a Jew. But one of Janina’s qualities that shines through in her account is her deep compassion for human frailties, and so her realistic assessment of human nature did not diminish her commitment to saving every life she could.

Janina was extraordinarily intelligent, keenly analytical, and remarkably quick-witted and innovative. Her specialty as a mathematician was probability, which served her well when her survival and success depended upon accurately calculating the tremendous risks she took every day. Ultimately, however, her actions were not guided by risk assessments, but by a simple mathematical principle: the value of one life is less than the value of multiple lives, and her life, if she survived without seeking to save others, would have no value.

Throughout her life, Janina refused to be defined or restricted by stereotypes: she was a woman in the almost entirely male field of mathematics; a patriot in a country that discriminated against her based on both her gender and Jewish identity; a Jew who risked her life to save non-Jewish Nazi victims during the Holocaust; and an anticommunist who served a communist government in order to provide aid to those in need. She saw herself simply as one human, bound to all other humans regardless of their misogyny, racism, or ideology, and she valued her own life only as it served other lives. Her story deserves to be told. The world needs her story.






ONE BEFORE


When, near the end of her life, Dr. Josephine Janina Mehlberg put to paper the experiences and reflections she felt were worth preserving, she made no mention of her first thirty-four years. Nor did she record her work directing aid for millions of the homeless, destitute, and orphaned in post–World War II Poland, or even write a word about her later life as a math professor in the United States. Instead, the memories and lessons that prompted, even compelled her to write were from the period when World War II shattered her comfortable life as a Polish Jewish intellectual and she seemed destined for murder at the hands of Poland’s Nazi occupiers. That was when she made a fateful choice: she would spend her remaining days not in fear and false hope of a meaningless survival, but in bold action to save as many others as she could before meeting a meaningful death. That was when she transformed into Countess Janina Suchodolska, a woman unknown to the many whose lives she saved, a woman haunted to the end of her days by the many she failed to rescue.

Janina was born Pepi Spinner on May 1, 1905, entering a life of rare privilege for a Polish Jewish girl.1 Her father, Pinkas, was a wealthy estate owner, and she enjoyed a childhood of comfortable elegance.2 The Spinners were well assimilated in local society and experienced little overt antisemitism. They mixed socially with the Polish nobles who owned the neighboring estates and whose children were Janina’s playmates. Like their aristocratic friends, Janina and her older sisters, Chaja and Bluma, were taught at home by nannies and tutors who imparted to them the manners, skills, and knowledge expected of girls in Polish genteel society.

Janina’s birthplace, the town of Żurawno (today Zhuravno), was in Eastern Galicia, a region that has had multiple rulers over the past millennium. Today it is part of Ukraine, but for centuries it was a Polish realm. In the late eighteenth century, Austria, Prussia, and Russia successively carved up the once mighty Commonwealth of Poland and Lithuania until they had swallowed it all. Austria helped itself to Galicia.3

All three powers tried to force their Polish subjects to assimilate. The Poles, however, refused to give up their identity, culture, and national aspirations, even after their uprisings were brutally suppressed. In 1867, as Austria struggled to hold its multinational empire together, it transformed into the constitutional monarchy of Austria-Hungary and granted some autonomy to other ethnic groups. Eastern Galicia, especially its capital, Lwów, became a center of Polish nationalism and culture.

Janina was fluent in German, the language of Austria, studied English and Russian, and could chat in Ukrainian with the peasants who worked her father’s fields. She likely knew some Yiddish as well. Mostly, however, she spoke Polish and French with her Polish friends and aristocratic neighbors, and she absorbed their nationalist sentiments and veneration for Polish culture. This background of multilingual privilege provided her essential skills that she would draw on when, as an adult, her survival and freedom would depend upon her ability to be a convincing imposter.

When Janina was nine, World War I broke out and her happy childhood soon ended with loss and tragedy. Eastern Galicia was ravaged as a major battleground in the fight between the Russian Empire and the Central Powers of Austria-Hungary and Germany. In the first months of the war in 1914, Russian forces swept across Eastern Galicia and promptly confiscated all estates owned by Jews. The armies of the Central Powers drove the Russians out in 1915, but not before the retreating forces abducted hundreds of landowners and leading businessmen.4 Among them was Janina’s father. In 1918, her family received word that he had died.

The war rekindled the hope and determination of the Poles to win back their sovereignty, especially after the entry of the United States. The Fourteen Points program of President Woodrow Wilson called for an independent Polish state comprising all the lands where Poles were in the majority. Eastern Galicia, however, had a Ukrainian majority. As the Central Powers prepared to surrender in the fall of 1918, Eastern Galicia again became a battleground. Polish and Ukrainian forces fought each other as well as Bolshevik Russia’s Red Army. In the grip of ultranationalist and ideological frenzy, soldiers on all sides slaughtered Jews. Well over 100,000 Jews were murdered in these post–World War I conflicts, and estimates range as high as 300,000, leading some historians to characterize the pogroms of that period as a prelude to the Holocaust.5

When the carnage finally ceased in 1921, Poland’s eastern border enclosed large areas where Ukrainians, Belarusians, or Lithuanians were in the majority, including Eastern Galicia. Janina settled in Lwów with her mother, Tauba, and became a star student at her private girls’ prep school, displaying a keen and curious intellect and a remarkable talent for mathematics. She was also ambitious and aspired to a career that would make full use of her intellectual gifts.

Lwów’s Jan Kazimierz University accepted Janina to study under two of Europe’s leading mathematicians: Stefan Banach and Hugo Steinhaus. Banach was then pioneering the field of functional analysis, but it was Steinhaus’s work on probability theory and mathematical reasoning that particularly intrigued Janina. She obtained the equivalent of a master’s degree in Exact Sciences, which qualified her to teach mathematics at the secondary level. But she aimed higher, to obtain a doctorate and teach at a university. Mathematics was not a welcoming field for women anywhere then, including Poland. Only five women obtained doctorates in mathematics in Poland before World War II, and only one of them in Lwów. Steinhaus, in particular, took a dim view of women in the highest level of his field.6

Janina was not one to let misogyny stand in the way of her goals. Jan Kazimierz University was also famous as the birthplace of the intellectual movement known as the Lwów-Warsaw School. Led by the charismatic philosopher Kazimierz Twardowski, it was a circle of mostly philosophers and mathematicians who viewed philosophy as a branch of science that was essential for understanding and advancing scientific and mathematical reasoning. Their intellectual meeting ground was the field of logic. Twardowski accepted women and Jews as his doctoral students and preferred graduate students with expertise in fields other than philosophy. By pursuing a doctorate in philosophy under Twardowski, Janina could advance her work in mathematics while also participating in the exciting explorations and discourse of his seminar. She applied to study under him, and he welcomed her as his student.7

Janina obtained a doctorate in philosophy in February 1928.8 In her dissertation, titled “Mathematical Reasoning and Traditional Logic,” she demonstrated that the principles of traditional logic alone are insufficient for mathematical reasoning, which must also draw on other sources of thought, particularly imagination and intuition. In the dark days to come, Janina would apply logic, imaginative innovation, and intuitive insight into human character to the task of resisting her nation’s enemies and saving its citizens’ lives.

Janina received an exciting opportunity to gain recognition for her work when the Polish Philosophical Society in Lwów invited her to present a lecture in May 1928. It was a bitter disappointment when a health crisis forced her to cancel. By the fall, she had recovered sufficiently to travel to Paris for a year of study at the Sorbonne. Then she returned to Lwów, where she found employment as a math teacher.

Sometime after her return, Janina crossed paths again with another Twardowski student, Henry (then Henryk) Mehlberg.9 Just seven months older than Janina, he had obtained a master’s degree in French in 1924 and a doctorate in philosophy in 1926 from Jan Kazimierz University, then spent two years studying in Austria, Germany, and at the Sorbonne. After he returned to Lwów in 1928, the only employment he could obtain was teaching French at a private preparatory school in the city of Lublin. He found the pay miserable and the city a boring backwater compared to Lwów.10 With Twardowski’s help, he obtained another position teaching languages in the city of Stanisławów (today Ivano-Frankivsk, Ukraine).11

When Henry reconnected with Janina, he found that the serious twenty-year-old he had known in his last year of graduate school had grown into a charming, lively, and stylish woman in her prime. She was now going by “Józefa” as her first name, which sounded more Polish and sophisticated than “Pepi.” Henry thought her very pretty: petite and slim, with blue-green eyes and luxurious dark hair that framed a lovely face. He admired her combination of femininity with fierce intelligence. Henry tended to be intense and to dominate intellectual discussions, which sometimes caused his male colleagues to grumble. Janina, on the other hand, had no problem interrupting him or holding her own in their discourse, and she managed to do so with such gentle good humor that Henry did not take offense when they disagreed and could even be swayed by her opinion. Like him, Janina was well versed in many subjects outside her field, particularly European literature and history, and they engaged in wide-ranging conversations. Henry, enchanted, concluded that he had met his intellectual match. Janina appreciated the man capable of reaching such a conclusion.

In 1933, some calamity befell Janina that left her suffering deeply in body and spirit. Its precise nature is unclear, although it may have been connected with her mother’s death that year. Henry supported Janina throughout the difficult time and their love for each other grew. The two married on August 6 in Henry’s hometown, Kopyczyńce, before settling in Stanisławów. Henry hoped that in new surroundings and under his care Janina would recover. Her spirits did revive enough by the summer of 1934 for her to submit an article on mathematical pedagogy for a volume Twardowski was editing, but her physical health did not improve. In May 1935, with Twardowski’s help, Henry was able to obtain treatment for Janina in a hospital in Lwów. After a two-week stay, her health and strength began to rebound.12

Janina and Henry had additional reason to rejoice in the summer of 1935: he had obtained a teaching position in Lwów and they were able to move back to their beloved city. Once again, they had Twardowski to thank. The professor had encouraged and critiqued Henry’s writings on the philosophy of science and made sure that others in the Lwów-Warsaw School were aware of them. In 1934, the president of the Polish Philosophical Society in Lwów—former Twardowski student and renowned scholar Roman Ingarden—invited Henry to speak to the society about his theories.13 The next year, he published (in French) his first essay on the causal theory of time. Even those who questioned his theory recognized the brilliance of his reasoning. The Lwów circle of the Lwów-Warsaw School wanted Henry among them and helped him find work in the city. Janina, too, obtained a position, teaching math at a girls’ high school.14

After they moved to Lwów, Janina and Henry sat for studio photographs. Janina appears pale and thin in her photo, perhaps from the effects of her long illness, but exhibits her individual sense of style. She did not wear her hair in the short waves that were universally fashionable then, for she had never bobbed the long, thick locks that fell to her knees in gentle curls when she let it down. Instead, she wore her hair that day in a long chignon tied slightly to one side. For his photo, Henry struck the pose of a serious scholar, his blue eyes cast down in deep thought, his blond, wavy hair combed back from a high forehead and a hairline that was beginning to recede.15

The Mehlbergs settled into a comfortable life in Lwów. In addition to their teacher salaries, Janina received a yearly stipend from her father’s estate, while Henry received some income as a titular partner in his father’s distillery business in Kopyczyńce.16 They rented a four-room apartment in a fashionable neighborhood near the university and furnished it to suit Janina’s elegant taste.

But the atmosphere in the city had changed since their student days. The hopes and ideals that Poles had shared when they were fighting for their sovereignty faded and fragmented as they faced the challenges of self-government. Integrating three regions that for more than a century had operated with different legal, social, political, and economic systems and that had been ravaged by seven years of warfare proved difficult, divisive, and painfully slow. In the late 1920s, just as the economic situation finally began to improve, the Great Depression brought devastation.

Even more worrying was the political polarization that made the country increasingly difficult to govern. Poland had begun its independence as a parliamentary democracy that guaranteed the rights of the ethnic minorities who made up more than 30 percent of its population. But there were competing visions of who truly “belonged” to the Polish nation. The right-wing National Democrats believed that ethnic Poles should enjoy advantages that members of other Christian ethnic groups should only be able to acquire by assimilating, while Jewish Poles should be forced to leave the country altogether. Opposing this view was the hero of Poland’s independence, Józef Piłsudski, a socialist who maintained that all residents of the Polish state should be full citizens. Fed up with the instability of Poland’s multiparty system, Piłsudski overthrew the government in 1926, replacing it with a nonpartisan authoritarian regime.17

The economic misery of the Great Depression stoked ethnic hostilities and popular unrest. The Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists (OUN) embarked on a terror campaign against the Polish “occupiers,” while the National Democrats and their fascist offshoot encouraged boycotts of Jewish businesses and even fomented pogroms. Much of the violence occurred in Eastern Galicia. In Janina’s birthplace, Żurawno, perpetrators of a pogrom in April 1937 demolished Jewish shops and homes and beat Jewish residents.18 At the beginning of January 1938, Jewish students at Jan Kazimierz University were forced to sit in the back of classrooms on what were called “ghetto benches”; many were beaten up, some were even murdered.19

The Polish regime responded to the growing unrest by becoming even more authoritarian, especially after Piłsudski’s death in 1935. It also sought to co-opt the National Democrats’ followers by adopting their rhetoric. It renounced the minority treaty that protected the rights of ethnic groups, exacted collective punishment on Ukrainians for OUN attacks, and called for the emigration of Poland’s three million Jews.20 Coupled with the bitter legacy of post–World War I ethnic violence, Poland’s official repression of minorities fueled ethnic hatreds that were ripe for exploitation by its enemies.

Poland’s most dangerous potential enemies were also its two largest neighbors: Germany to the west and the Soviet Union to the east. Both countries aspired to regain the swaths of territory they had lost to Poland in the aftermath of World War I. Despite Poland’s best efforts to steer a neutral path between the two, its relations with them grew increasingly tense, especially after Adolf Hitler and his Nazi Party took power in Germany in 1933.

Hitler launched a campaign of territorial expansion in March 1938, when Germany annexed Austria. He then proceeded to wipe Czechoslovakia off the map by attaching the Czech lands to the Reich and establishing a self-governing satellite state in Slovakia. By April 1939, there was little doubt that Hitler had chosen Poland to be Nazi Germany’s next victim. But Britain and France promised to come to Poland’s aid if Germany attacked, and in the summer of 1939 they sought an alliance with the Soviet Union aimed at checking German aggression. Polish leaders thought that even Hitler would not be fool enough to risk a two-front war with Germany’s three major European adversaries from World War I.

Then, on August 24, the world received stunning news: Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union, sworn ideological enemies, had signed a nonaggression pact, agreeing not to attack each other for ten years. Within two days, German troops were moving toward the Polish border.21

And yet, in 1939, Janina and Henry had reasons to be pleased with their status and optimistic about the future. Lwów’s intellectual circles had welcomed them with open arms. Both were recognized members of the Lwów-Warsaw School, which had become one of Europe’s leading philosophical circles. Janina was elected to the Polish Mathematical Society and published a critique in The Journal of Symbolic Logic.22 Henry began work to obtain the habilitation, the postdoctoral certification that would qualify him to teach in a university. His published work was attracting notice and respect from philosophers both in Poland and abroad. He was regularly lecturing at the Philosophical Society and Jan Kazimierz University and was giving talks on the radio about Twardowski’s philosophy. On at least one occasion, Janina joined him on air, to debate the question “Is Truth Relative?”23

Henry and Janina had a wide circle of friends, both Jewish and non-Jewish, who admired the couple’s brilliance and enjoyed their warmth and kindness. Janina, generous and empathetic, was especially adept at forging friendships with people from many different backgrounds and walks of life.

Nothing about their lives prepared Janina and Henry for what was to come.






TWO THE BEGINNING OF THE END


Shortly after dawn on September 1, 1939, the residents of Lwów heard the drone of German warplanes overhead, then felt the shattering blasts of bombs falling on their beautiful city. In shock and disbelief, Janina and Henry, like most others in the city, did not follow official instructions to retreat to the basement of their building, for they were confident that Poland’s mighty air defenses would soon put a stop to the unpleasantness.

Two days later, however, with German bombers still dropping their payloads and Lwów’s buildings crumbling, a rising sense of panic drove residents to their basements. Still, they took comfort from exciting news: France and Great Britain had declared war on Germany. Surely, Poles thought, Germany would soon be forced to withdraw its troops and concede defeat.

Then, a week into the war, the refugees began to arrive from the west, first in a trickle but soon in an unending river that filled the main roads as far as the eye could see. The trains had ceased running and only the wealthy had cars, so the refugees traveled mainly on foot, bicycles, or in conveyances drawn by horses or cattle. They arrived panicked and traumatized by the German blitzkrieg, having seen their homes and communities obliterated and hundreds of their fellow travelers killed on the way by bombs, shells, and strafing warplanes. With them came unsettling rumors: Polish forces were being routed; the government was fleeing the country.

Janina and Henry huddled in the stuffy basement of their building with the other residents. For long days and nights, they endured excruciating boredom broken by moments of terror as they listened to whistling bombs and screaming artillery shells and held their breath when their building shuddered from the impact of nearby explosions. Still, people clung hopefully to the assurances of Poland’s leaders that the Polish Army was far superior to the German Wehrmacht and that the retreats of Polish forces were merely strategic.1

On September 17, as German forces were poised to take Lwów, news came that Soviet forces had crossed into Poland. For a fleeting moment, some Lwów residents grasped the hope that the Soviet Union had abandoned its nonaggression pact with Nazi Germany and was coming to Poland’s rescue. In fact, the Soviets came to fulfill their part of the bargain with Nazi Germany. In a secret codicil to their pact, the Nazi and Soviet governments had agreed to divide Poland between them.

Janina and Henry had retreated to their basement as proud citizens of Poland. When the bombing and shelling finally ceased on September 22, they emerged as subjects of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics. Per their secret agreement with the Germans, the Soviets occupied and annexed Poland’s provinces east of the Bug River, including Eastern Galicia. The rest of Poland fell to Nazi Germany, which annexed Poland’s western and northern provinces to the Third Reich. The remaining area, about one quarter the size of prewar Poland, became a German possession. Dubbed the General Government (Generalgouvernement), it was essentially a colony, ruthlessly ruled by a German administration for the benefit of its overlord. Just two decades after proudly declaring its sovereignty, the Polish nation again found itself without a state and occupied by enemies intent on eradicating not only its independence but also its identity.

On the heels of the Red Army, a wave of violence swept through Eastern Galicia. The occupying soldiers looted and raped at will. Incited by the Soviets to take up “scythes and axes” and destroy “Polish fascism,” some Ukrainians complied with gusto. They looted estates and businesses and attacked their owners, sometimes murdering them. Most of the victims were ethnic Poles, followed by Jews. Believing that the land they seized would be theirs, Ukrainian peasants welcomed the Red Army with bread and salt. The Soviets might preach about a workers’ paradise without ethnic, religious, or social distinctions, but they understood the value of manipulating ethnic hostilities.2

In Lwów, renamed Lvov, Janina and Henry faced the prospect of homelessness. The Red Army confiscated thousands of homes and apartments of the city’s mostly Polish and Jewish residents, or forced families to live in one room and serve the soldiers billeted in the rest of their abode.3 Soon after the city was occupied, two Red Army officers arrived at Janina and Henry’s door to determine how to dispose of their apartment’s four rooms. Henry was not at home.

Greeting the officers in Russian, Janina graciously showed them around, hoping she could persuade them to let her and Henry remain in one of the rooms. The officers stared agape at the walls covered with shelves of books.

“Why do you own all these books?” one officer asked Janina.

“My husband and I are professors and needed to acquire them for our work,” she replied.

The other officer, pointing to a book on the desk, noted that the author’s name matched that on the apartment door.

“Are you related to the author?” he asked.

“He is my husband.”

“So, your husband is not only a professor but a writer, and you teach as well.”

Janina confirmed his conclusion. To her astonishment, the two officers then took their leave.

Under the Soviet regime, it turned out, teachers had a special status and could be allotted two rooms each.4 Thus, Janina and Henry could remain in their apartment as before. The tenants in the apartment below, however, had to house four officers and their families.

But to keep their apartment, the Mehlbergs had to be approved for teaching positions. The Soviets strictly surveilled the personnel and curriculum at all schools to ensure the ideological purity of instruction. Ukrainian, Russian, and Yiddish replaced the Polish and Hebrew languages in primary and secondary schools. At Lwów’s university, renamed Ivan Franko University after a nineteenth-century Ukrainian writer, the language of instruction was changed to Ukrainian, and many Polish and Jewish professors were dismissed. The philosophy department was expected to teach Marxist materialism, not the unorthodox views of the Lwów-Warsaw School.5

As the daughter of an estate owner, Janina qualified as a class enemy, while the Mehlbergs’ activities in the Lwów-Warsaw School could have disqualified them from teaching. When they registered with authorities, Janina claimed that her father had been a simple bookkeeper on a Polish estate. She and Henry presented themselves as high school teachers, she of math and he of foreign languages. Neither field was ideologically suspect, and since Janina could teach in Ukrainian and Henry did not need it to teach French, they were approved to continue their work.

On October 22, Janina and Henry had to vote to “choose” what had already been decided for them: that Eastern Galicia would unite with the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic. Every resident of Eastern Galicia was required to submit a ballot. Those who failed to come to a polling station were sought out and transported there, or the ballot box was brought to them. As she approached the ballot box, Janina, like all voters, had to show how she had filled her ballot.

The unsurprising election result was announced: 90.83 percent of Galicians voted for union with Ukraine.6

Hunger and want descended on Lwów. The Soviets confiscated most private enterprises and closed the banks, seizing all but a paltry sum in depositors’ accounts. Even that amount became worthless when the ruble replaced Polish currency. The only legal way to acquire income was through wages, but there was massive unemployment thanks to the dislocations caused by the confiscations. There was an acute food shortage as well, and by the start of the unusually harsh winter of 1939–1940, no coal could be obtained for heating. Even the black market had little to offer, and its prices quickly spiraled beyond what workers’ wages could afford. The search for food became an all-consuming quest. So little was available that the state-run stores simply listed the few goods they had for sale on their windows. People stood in line for hours, often overnight, in the dwindling hope that something would still be available when they finally reached the head of the queue.

The Mehlbergs had taken in a colleague of Henry’s, and the two men shared in the search for food for their household. Bundled in all their warm clothing, they would set out in the dark hours before dawn, carrying knapsacks to hold whatever they could find. One early morning, they saw a store that was open, and in its windows were jars of liquid concentrate of ersatz tea. Excited at the prospect of surprising Janina with what had become a rare delicacy, the men bought two jars. The rest of their foray proved similarly successful, for they succeeded in buying a half pound of horsemeat after standing only six hours in line.

The two men returned to the apartment and, with conspiratorial grins, proposed to Janina that they warm up with a nice cup of hot tea. Then, in response to her look of puzzled surprise, they triumphantly opened their knapsacks to pull out the two jars, only to find that both had frozen and shattered while the men waited to buy the horsemeat. Trying to console them, Janina served up cups of ersatz lemon powder in hot water. In such trying times, ingenuity and imagination were necessary coping strategies.

People’s constant food anxiety actually played into the hands of Soviet authorities. As a teacher, Janina had a front-row view of how the Soviets used food to indoctrinate children and students in Marxist ideology and turn them into active supporters of the Communist Party. Children received a hot meal daily at school and were organized into communist youth groups that met in beautiful confiscated homes and supplied sumptuous treats. Given the austerity they endured at home, children needed little encouragement to attend the meetings. At the universities as well, cafeterias supplied students and teachers with hot food. Numerous unions, committees, and professional associations were organized, and at each of their many meetings there were food counters with bread and sausages for sale. Janina noted that hungry stomachs tended to develop a strong appetite for political discussion.

But the Soviets relied much more on the stick than the carrot to ensure conformity and obedience to Marxist totalitarianism. Thousands of agents of the Soviet secret police, then known as the NKVD, descended upon Eastern Galicia to identify and determine the fate of all suspected enemies of the state. In February 1940, they carried out the first of four massive deportations of people categorized as threats to Soviet rule based upon their professions, class, or ethnicity. The victims included Polish landowners, civil servants, and police, landowning Ukrainian peasants, Jewish business owners, and the Polish and Jewish refugees from German-occupied Poland who refused to accept Soviet citizenship. Packed tightly into boxcars, the victims traveled with little food or water for days or sometimes weeks until they arrived at labor colonies in the tundra of Siberia or the steppe of Kazakhstan. According to the wartime Polish government in exile, 1.25 million Polish citizens were deported by the Soviets between February 1940 and June 1941, 400,000 of them from Eastern Galicia.7

Although forced to perform backbreaking labor, the deportees at least had a chance of surviving. In April 1940, the NKVD murdered 21,892 Polish Army officers, policemen, and members of Poland’s intelligentsia in the Katyn Forest in western Russia and at four other sites.8

Certain that spies and traitors were everywhere plotting to overthrow Soviet rule, the NKVD and its informants relentlessly hunted for suspects. In Lwów, thousands disappeared into the four NKVD prisons to be tortured until they confessed and named others. The lucky prisoners were sentenced to eight years in a Siberian gulag; the rest received a bullet in the back of the neck.9

Like so many citizens of Lwów, Janina and Henry lived in constant dread that the NKVD would set its sights on them, perhaps as members of a suspect group or because of an allegation wrenched from an acquaintance desperate to escape torture. They listened nightly for the knock on the door signaling that their time had come.

Nevertheless, whether under German or Soviet occupation, Polish patriots like Janina and Henry maintained faith that their nation’s subjugation was only temporary. After all, this was not the first time that Poland had been wiped off the map. The Poles found strength in the words of Poland’s national anthem:


Poland is not yet lost

As long as we’re alive.



Poland would rise again, Janina and Henry were sure. This was not the end.






THREE TERROR COMES TO LWÓW


Shrieking in terror, young women were fleeing through the streets of Lwów. Those caught pleaded for their lives as their pursuers stripped and flogged them. Other rioters were dragging men out onto the streets and bludgeoning them. Hundreds were dying in the bloody frenzy. The victims were Jews, and their murderers were their neighbors. It was June 30, 1941, and German forces had just taken the city.

Since Nazi Germany’s attack on the Soviet Union eight days earlier, Ukrainian nationalists had been preparing to vent their rage at their Soviet oppressors. The gruesome discovery of some 1,500 corpses of NKVD prisoners in Lwów’s prisons added to their fury. Unable to get their hands on actual Soviet officials, Ukrainian militia groups settled upon Jews as scapegoats, even though many of the murdered prisoners were Jews. The slaughter continued for two days until German military officials finally stepped in and restored order on July 2. By that time, more than a thousand and possibly as many as 4,000 Jews had been murdered.1

Then a Kommando (detachment) arrived in the city from one of the SS Einsatzgruppen. These were the notorious task forces of the German Security Police and SD that enforced security behind the German front lines during military operations. The Security Police, consisting of the Gestapo and the Criminal Police, was a state agency, while the SD (Sicherheitsdienst; Security Service) was the intelligence service of the SS (Schutzstaffel; Protection Squads), the armed security force of the Nazi Party, but the two were joined under one office at the start of World War II. One of the tasks of the Einsatzgruppen in the seized Soviet territories was to eliminate “Judeo-Bolshevism,” the Nazi term for communism, through mass murder of communists, members of the intelligentsia, and above all, Jews.2

Janina and Henry did not witness the first Ukrainian rampages, as their neighborhood near the university was not predominantly Jewish. But two nights after the Einsatzkommando arrived in the city, its officials burst into the nearby homes of some two dozen prominent university professors, most of them Poles. The Germans arrested not only the professors but also family members and servants. By the end of the next day, nearly all were dead, shot in mass graves in the hills above the city.3 Among the victims were three mathematicians whom Janina knew and respected.

Murders of Jews continued as well, although under the direction of the SS, the Ukrainian militia conducted them in a more orderly and targeted fashion. Between July 2 and 5, the militia rounded up thousands of male Jews and took them to an open-air sports arena, where they were brutally beaten and tortured. Most of the Jews were then marched to the woods outside the city, where, with the help of the Ukrainians, the SS shot them. The Einsatzkommando did not make an exact count of the victims but reported that they numbered between 2,500 and 3,000.4

The Wehrmacht, the German armed forces, established a military administration in Lwów, which the Germans renamed Lemberg. The city commandant placed ethnic Ukrainians in positions of power. Although Nazi ideology considered all Slavs, including Ukrainians, to be racially inferior, the Germans were as adept as the Soviets at exploiting ethnic divisions. The Wehrmacht had organized units of the OUN that marched into Eastern Galicia with German troops. With German encouragement, Ukrainian nationalists called on their ethnic brethren to seize villages and towns and take revenge against their enemies, especially Jews and Poles. Contrary to OUN expectations, however, Germany’s Nazi leaders had no intention of granting sovereignty to the Ukrainians. After an OUN faction declared Ukrainian statehood in Lwów, its leaders soon found themselves guests of the SS in Sachsenhausen concentration camp.5

One of the military administration’s first acts was to order all Jews between ages fourteen and sixty to register and wear armbands with the Star of David. For the SS and Ukrainian militia, the markings simplified the task of finding victims to murder.6 Janina could only watch in sorrow as her friends in mixed marriages were forced by the armband requirement to choose between terrible options. Some non-Jewish partners divorced their Jewish spouses and took the children, in hopes of saving them. Some non-Jewish mothers even tried to claim that their children were illegitimate, since bastardy was better than having a Jewish father. Janina also had friends who had been practicing Christians all their life yet were classified as Jews by the Germans. They might have been able to hide their parentage from the Ukrainians, but not from the Germans. A professor of Polish literature well known to Janina and Henry was a devout Catholic whose Jewish parents were converted Christians and had baptized him at birth. After learning that he was required to wear the armband, he slit his wrists in his bathtub.

Janina and Henry donned the armband and experienced the full force of Nazi persecution. One of the first decrees banned Jewish ownership of radios. When Janina went to turn in hers at the designated place, she found a long line of other Jews lugging radios in the July heat. A few hours after she joined it, two armed Ukrainian militiamen guarding a small group of young men passed by. Suddenly, Janina was startled by a heartrending wail from an older Jewish woman standing near her in the line.

“That’s my son! They are taking my son!”

Dropping her radio, the woman ran toward the men. One of the Ukrainians roughly shoved her away, but she continued to follow them, wailing for her son. The other militiaman grabbed her head in his hands and smashed it on the curb until she was dead. Then he kicked her body and rejoined the group. Janina could do nothing but keep her place in the line as it slowly shuffled past the bloody corpse. Such scenes had become common in the city.

On July 25, the Ukrainian militia embarked on a new, two-day pogrom. They targeted wealthy Jews, dragging them into the street, beating them, and then taking them off to be shot.7 This time, they came to Janina and Henry’s neighborhood. Janina became aware of the danger when, drawn to her window by a commotion in the street below, she saw that a group of Ukrainian militia had dragged out the Jewish landlord of a neighboring building. The landlord was kneeling before one of the militiamen, whom Janina recognized as the building’s janitor. As the landlord pleaded for his life, she heard the janitor snarl:

“No! Under the Bolsheviks you said I stole from you. Now it’s my turn to send you to hell. I’m not going to lift a finger to save a rat like you!”

Janina was shocked. Often when the janitor was working outside the building, she would stop to chat, always remembering to ask about his children, who were clearly his pride and joy. When she learned one day that one of the children was seriously ill, she arranged medical treatment for the child. She could not fathom how the loving father and friendly neighbor she knew, who had shown no animosity toward her as a Jew, could so heartlessly consign another human being to a cruel death.

The next day, a truck pulled up in front of Janina and Henry’s building and disgorged Ukrainian militia. Janina saw them enter the building and, assuming that they were looking for Jewish men, insisted that Henry hide while she pretended to be a visitor. When the knock came, Janina answered the door—and saw that the janitor was among the men. Somehow swallowing her fear, she stated that she was a houseguest of the Mehlbergs, who were not at home. Then the janitor spoke up.

“That’s right, I remember seeing the Mehlbergs leave earlier.”

The group moved on in search of other victims.

Janina closed the door and leaned against it, trying to process what had just happened. The man she knew to be responsible for the murder of at least one Jew had just saved the lives of two others, at considerable risk to his own. The two acts appeared incompatible, yet both were performed by the same person. Over the next three years, she would observe further instances of the human capacity to perform logically irreconcilable acts, and her observations would influence her calculations of risk as she daily put her own life on the line to save others.

By the time the pogrom ended on July 27, the Ukrainian militia had murdered some 1,000 victims in Lwów. The city commandant reacted the next day by imposing a two million ruble fine upon the city’s Jews as punishment for “provoking” the Ukrainians.8

Things got even worse for Lwów’s Jews on August 1, when Eastern Galicia became Distrikt Galizien, the fifth Distrikt or province of the General Government, the area of Nazi-occupied Poland that Germany did not annex in 1939. It was run by Nazi civilian administrators who ruthlessly exploited its resources and people and enriched themselves in the process. Some of the most corrupt and brutal veterans of Nazi rule in the General Government obtained leading positions in Galicia District, earning it the derisive nickname “Scandalicia” (Skandalizien). In fact, the district’s first governor so far overstepped even Nazi standards for graft that he was recalled, tried, and executed in 1942.9

The new civilian administrators barred Jews from employment, schools, and public spaces. All Jews between ages fourteen and sixty became liable for forced labor. Civilian officials inspected Jewish residences, registered the furnishings, confiscated what was valuable, and evicted the inhabitants.10 There was such a barrage of constantly changing regulations and decrees from different offices that Janina was never sure whether what she had done permissibly the day before had become prohibited overnight.

Lwów’s new administration immediately levied an additional fine against the Jewish community. Janina and Henry did not have the cash to pay their part of the fine and so, like thousands of other Jews in the city, she went to St. Mary’s Square in the city’s Old Town to sell her two most valuable items, a ring and a custom fountain pen ornamented in 22-karat gold. The square was one of the most beautiful in the city, but now it seemed like something out of a fever dream. It was packed with people shoving and shouting in the stifling heat. Mixing among the desperate men and women seeking to sell their belongings were German soldiers, officers, and SS men with greedy grins. Some seemed to specialize in specific items, for Janina saw one hold up a hand with wedding rings to his fingertips, while another drew back the sleeve from his raised arm to show bracelets.

Janina recognized a friend in the crowd, the wife of a professor, who was trying to sell a bracelet, and the two women stood together. A German came over to inspect their items, asked Janina the price for hers, and then offered to buy them for half the amount she named. Civilians clustered around to watch. One of them spoke to Janina in German:

“Don’t sell it to him. The pen alone is worth three times that much.”

The German snorted in disgust and walked away. Whereupon an SS man simply snatched the pen from Janina’s hand and sauntered off into the crowd. The civilian who had advised her not to sell tossed her a few złoty and quickly followed the SS man. That, Janina learned, was how business was done in St. Mary’s Square.

Hunger became a constant companion for Janina and Henry. Their official rations provided less than 8 percent of the calories needed to survive, and they were only allowed to buy the few permitted foodstuffs—if they were even available—at a single market between the hours of 12:00 and 4:00 p.m. There they ran the risk that Germans or Ukrainians would attack and rob them or abduct them to perform grueling labor, from which many never returned.

Adding to the misery of daily life, typhus arrived in September with Ukrainian soldiers returning from German POW camps. Malnourished Jews living in crowded quarters proved especially vulnerable to the disease, which soon ran rampant in the city. This added to the Germans’ determination to “solve the Jewish question” in Galicia. There were more than half a million Jews in the district, more than 100,000 of them within the city of Lwów. Nazi officials decided to cut the Jews off completely from the rest of the population by enclosing them in ghettos. Not all of them, though—first there would be a culling.11

Janina began to notice trucks full of Jews speeding toward Piaskowa Góra (Sandy Hill) in the city’s heights in early October. And at night she would hear long bursts of gunfire coming from those heights. One day, she ran into a friend from her school days, a Pole, whose haggard appearance alarmed her. The distraught woman explained that she had fled from her home on Piaskowa Góra because it was just twenty yards from an execution site. Sleep continued to elude her, however, because the sounds of the gunshots and screams she had heard for so many nights never ceased echoing in her head.

The raids on Jews intensified, always for the announced intention of taking them for work. Sometimes that proved to be true, but the gunfire in the hills indicated that for many it was not. For Janina, like the other Jews of Lwów, every day involved a desperate calculation of the probability that venturing to the market, visiting a friend, or even staying at home would end either in abduction to perform agonizing labor or in death. There was no safe place for a Jew in Lwów.

People tried different strategies to avoid being taken. One day, Janina paid a visit to a young couple she knew from the university and was surprised to be greeted at the door by a gray-haired woman. After a double take, Janina recognized her friend. She had dyed her hair because she had to go stand in line to buy food at the market and feared that, as a healthy young woman, she would be taken for labor. Her strategy proved successful for several shopping forays, until the day she went out and never returned. The SS were seizing elderly women that day—and not to take them for labor.

Like the other Jews not yet taken, Janina kept a constant vigil for the trucks that carried SS men and Ukrainian auxiliaries. As she was watching out her apartment window early one morning, she saw a truck pull up and Ukrainian policemen enter the apartment building across the street, shouting that they had come to take the residents to work. A young, partially disabled Jewish clerk lived there with his pretty wife. The Ukrainians passed him over as unfit for work but seized his wife instead. The clerk reassured himself that his wife must have been taken for work, because the Ukrainians logically would have seized him if they were looking for victims to murder. At five the same evening, Janina watched as the clerk began standing outside the entrance to his building, waiting for his wife’s return. At eight he was still there, leaning heavily on his cane. The next morning, he was still there, no longer waiting expectantly but crumpled in the doorway, sobbing. No one could get him to leave the entryway, so his neighbors finally notified his parents, who came and took him.

And then one night around 3:00 a.m., terror pounded on Janina and Henry’s door. They tried to dress quickly as the pounding became louder. Shaking with fear, Janina opened the door. Ukrainian policemen barged past her and seized Henry.

“We’re taking him for work,” they announced.

Janina pleaded with them in Ukrainian, “He’s a teacher, he’s not much good for physical labor.”

But they stomped out with Henry in tow, only partially dressed. Janina followed them, filled with despair and wanting only to share Henry’s fate. But when she tried to follow them into the police station, one of the policemen pushed her away.

“What’s your hurry,” he sneered, “don’t you know where they’re taking him?”

This confirmation of her worst fear suddenly filled Janina with a reckless stubbornness. She stared into the policeman’s eyes and did not move. Enraged, he screamed, “Get the hell out of here!” and cracked her in the face with his rifle butt.

A Wehrmacht officer entering the building witnessed the assault. He steadied Janina and advised her to leave, but she refused to budge. This seemed to impress him. Promising to find out what was happening to Henry if she left the station, he finally persuaded her to go stand in a doorway across the street. After half an hour, he returned.

“I took your husband out of the transport and am sending him to the Wehrmacht bakery for work. Now you can go home.”

But, reeling and nauseous from the blow to her head, Janina continued to wait, not daring to trust the officer’s assurances. Soon, she saw a truck depart with the other Jewish men collected at the station, and it headed toward Piaskowa Góra. Just then, she saw Henry emerge from the station’s entry, escorted by two German soldiers. They turned and headed in the other direction, toward the Wehrmacht bakery. Another soldier came and told her that Henry would return at six that evening.

Still she stood in the doorway as the hours dragged by. At six, she cried out in relief as she spotted Henry walking toward her. And, amazingly, he was carrying a loaf of wheat bread, something they had not tasted in months. Back at their apartment, Janina tended to Henry’s chest and arms, raw and blistered from his shirtless labor hauling hot loaves from the ovens. Yet, as they feasted on the loaf of bread, they were almost giddy with gratitude. The irony of their feelings was not lost on Janina, who remarked, “If a man has been beating you brutally for years, then suddenly stops and offers you a sip of water, he may seem to you the Lord of Mercy at that moment.”






FOUR TRANSFORMATION


Two small suitcases packed with only the bare necessities stood at the door, ready for Janina and Henry to grab them on their way out. It was December 7, 1941, and they knew they had to get out of Lwów. The city’s nearly 120,000 Jews had received orders on November 8 to move into a ghetto by December 15. Reports of what was already happening there were horrifying, and not just because of the massive overcrowding and raging epidemics. To enter the ghetto, the Jews had to funnel through two gates under railroad bridges. As they filed in on foot, carrying the few possessions they were allowed to bring, German and Ukrainian police searched, robbed, and beat them. Men and women who seemed particularly poor or weak were seized and taken to the Security Police prison. Now it seemed that the prison must be full, for the police had blocked off the roads between it and the sand pits in the city’s heights and dozens of trucks were speeding back and forth daily, traveling up with covered loads and returning empty. Gunfire constantly echoed from above.1

Even if they survived the gauntlet into the ghetto, Janina and Henry understood what awaited them there. News had reached Galicia’s Jews that thousands of Jews were dying of starvation and diseases in the ghettos already established in German-occupied Poland. In Warsaw alone, the death rate was between 4,000 and 5,500 per month.2 Janina and Henry lacked the kind of physical labor skills and connections that might get them a work card and, with it, the possibility of better rations, perhaps even an entire half of a room to live in, and most important, protection from mass shootings. For it was illogical to expect that the Germans would stop murdering Jews once they were all sealed into the ghetto, where finding victims would no longer require any effort. Janina and Henry were nothing if not logical. Going into the ghetto, they concluded, meant going to their deaths.

They had decided to join Henry’s family in Kopyczyńce, where there was no ghetto yet, and Henry’s father was sending a horse-drawn carriage to collect them. When it arrived, they opened their door and stopped short in surprise: an unexpected visitor stood there, about to knock. It was Count Andrzej Skrzyński (AHN-jay SKSHIN-skee), an old friend of Janina’s family. He had taken the first civilian train allowed to cross into Galicia to seek out Janina and make her a proposition: she and Henry should travel back with him to Lublin. Skrzyński promised he could get them false papers, living quarters, and jobs.

Janina and Henry weighed the odds and concluded that the Count’s proposal offered the best chance for long-term survival. But only if they could get to Lublin. Galician Jews could not travel outside the district without official permits, for which Janina and Henry did not qualify. That meant they must travel without wearing the Star of David armband or carrying papers that identified them as Jews, both offenses for which they would be shot if caught. Count Skrzyński was confident, however, that if they stuck with him during the journey, he could get them to Lublin.

On the morning of December 8, Janina and Henry gazed out the window and bid a silent farewell to their beloved city as their train departed the Lwów station. Janina remembered that the day was the Catholic holiday of the Feast of the Immaculate Conception, and she fondly recalled the processions, festivities, and fireworks of past years in the city. Lublin is about 130 miles northwest from Lwów, but when the railroads were built, Lwów was in Austria-Hungary while Lublin was part of the Russian Empire. The rail route between the two cities was circuitous and required several changes for which there were no set schedules, since civilian trains were regularly shunted aside for Wehrmacht transports that were speeding soldiers and supplies to the Eastern Front. The journey would take days.

The day was dark and frigid, and the passenger cars were unheated and unlit. Janina and her traveling companions jostled on the hard wooden benches for hour after long hour. The train would occasionally stop, and a German official would board with a flashlight to conduct a random check. Each time, Janina observed a young man who shrank back into the shadows, trying to hide a face pale with fear. She guessed that he, too, was a Jew.

After twenty-four hours, they had traveled little more than fifty miles to Przemyśl, where they had to change trains. Informed that they had to wait ten hours, Skrzyński and Henry went in search of food while Janina stayed in the cold, dark station with the two suitcases. After a while, she noticed bobbing lights slowly moving her way. Panic seized her. German police were examining all passengers and demanding to see their papers.

Janina was standing in a corner of the station and had no way to escape. How could she explain her lack of papers? Paralyzed with fear and despair, she could not think. Her luck, she concluded, had run out. A wave of relief washed over her that Henry and the Count would not be caught with her, followed by a wave of sorrow for their coming grief. As two policemen turned their lights on her and approached, she resolved to meet her fate with dignity.

“What do you have in these valises?” demanded one policeman.

Without replying, she bent to undo the latches, but her fingers fumbled with cold and nerves as she waited for the next demand: her papers. The other policeman shone his flashlight on her face, then said, “She doesn’t look like a smuggler. Let’s leave her alone.” And they moved on to the next passenger. Janina slowly straightened and stood in a shivering daze for she knew not how long before Henry and the Count returned.

After a further day of travel, they arrived at Dębica—still 130 miles away from their destination—and faced another long wait for the next train. They were desperately tired, but German bombs had destroyed most of the city in 1939 and there were no hotels. Count Skrzyński found a railway worker who took them to a building with a number of bare cots. All but one were occupied by Polish travelers. The men insisted that Janina take the available cot with the Count’s overcoat as a blanket, and they sought space to sleep on the floor.

They were startled from their sleep by harsh shouts of “Raus, Alle!” In the darkness, Janina could hear people groaning and a baby’s wail. They all filed out, wondering whether they were about to be arrested, only to discover that the order came from a drunk German soldier seeking a place to sleep it off and unwilling to share space with “Polack swine.” There was nothing to do but return to the station.

After three days and three nights, they arrived at Lublin. Hoping to slip out of the station quickly without encountering any police checks, the men went to retrieve the luggage while Janina sought a cab. She found one easily, then waited with increasing anxiety, straining for a sight of Henry and the Count, while the cab driver complained about losing other fares. Finally, nearly an hour later, she saw Count Skrzyński approach. He was alone.

“You and I are going home now,” he said, taking her arm. “Henry was detained by some German police for something, and he’ll come after us.”

Janina broke away from him and ran back into the station. There she saw Henry being berated by a German official who was shouting that taking any baggage out of Galicia was strictly prohibited. Henry looked pale. At any moment, the official would demand to see his papers. Janina sprang into action.

“What do you want of my husband?” she demanded in German as she stepped in front of Henry and fixed the official with a haughty look.

Startled by her peremptory tone and apparent lack of fear, the official lost his swagger and replied in a lower voice, “He has broken a strict regulation on baggage.”

“He could do no such thing,” Janina retorted, “because when we left Lwów there was no such regulation!”

The official backed down and said lamely, “Anyway, he has to pay a fine.”

If they agreed to the fine, Janina realized, they would have to show papers so it could be recorded.

“We are not going to pay any fine,” she declared firmly, “because there was no regulation about this, and if you will put through a call to Lwów, you will hear it for yourself.”

Now flustered and fuming, the official ordered them to get out, “and don’t let me catch you another time!”

Careful not to give away their relief, Janina and Henry sauntered out of the station with their two bags. “Never has a harshly bellowed order sounded so sweet,” Janina thought.

Decades later, she would reflect on the lesson she learned in this encounter and that she would use again and again to save lives in the years that followed it:


What do you do with your fear and trembling in a confrontation with a swaggering bully? You confine it to the small prison of the heart, letting none seep into the muscles of the eyes, hands, or legs; you quake within and show calm authority without—you pull off a hoax. You must not toady to them, you must not let them sniff blood. Composure and coolness toward them implied the backing of power, and in the face of power they might very well shrink.



Three days earlier, Pepi Mehlberg had departed Lwów for Lublin. Countess Janina Suchodolska arrived there in her place.
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